IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

,#

DAVID	LEWIS GILBERT,	•	
	Petitioner,	:	
v.		:	CASE NO. 84,161
STATE	OF FLORIDA,	*	FILED
	Respondent.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	SID J WHITE
		/	AUG 31 19941
			CLERK, SUPREME COURT
			By Chief Deputy Clerk

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT DAVID P. GAULDIN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 261580 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal is consecutively paginated and shall be referred to by the letter "R" followed by the appropriate page number. An appendix is attached containing the Florida First District Court of Appeal's opinion in this case.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

By second amended information, and by informations, Petitioner was charged in case numbers 92-3567, 92-4031, and 92-4733 with the "aggravated stalking" of Suzette O'Leary by knowingly, willfully, maliciously, and repeatedly following or harassing her in violation of an injunction for protection against repeat violence. (R-3-5). The operative dates for these alleged crimes, respectfully, are between July 1, 1992 and August 19, 1992; August 20, 1992; and October 2, 1992. (R-3-5).

On January 11, 1993, in exchange for the dismissal of some pending misdemeanor cases, Petitioner pled nolo contendere to three counts of aggravated stalking. (R-56-70).

On February 8, 1993, Petitioner was sentenced as follows: in case number 92-3567, Petitioner was placed on community control for a period of two years. A special condition of that community control was that he serve 11 months and 30 days in the county jail. He also was required to enroll and complete an anger control management counselling course, and not to have any contact (directly or indirectly) with the victim. During the first four months while on community control after his release from the county jail, he was to be required to wear an electronic anklet device. Costs of \$575.98 were imposed, and the trial court reserved jurisdiction to determine the amount of restitution to the alleged victim. (R-103-104).

- 2 -

In case number 92-4031, Petitioner was also adjudicated guilty, and the same sentence was imposed, to run concurrently with his first sentence. (R-104).

In case number 92-4733, Petitioner was adjudicated guilty and placed on two years probation, with his probationary period to be served consecutively to the previous sentences. (R-104).

In Case number 92-3567, he was given credit for 168 days jail time; in case number 92-4031, he was given credit for 167 days jail time. In case number 92-4733, he was given credit for 132 days jail time. (R-104).

At the sentencing hearing, defense counsel objected to the imposition of community control and county jail time as a condition of community control. (R-105).

The sentencing guidelines scoresheet, which was prepared by the state, totalled 131 points. Thirty six of these points came from "legal constraint". (R-110).

Notice of appeal was timely filed on or about March 10, 1993. (R-112). On July 12, 1994, the Florida First District Court of Appeal issued its opinion in this case. Regarding the sentencing issues raised in the appeal, the Florida First District Court of Appeal indicated, and the state agreed, that Petitioner's scoresheet was improperly calculated because he was improperly "awarded" points for legal constraint at the time the offenses were committed. The District Court of Appeal also noted that Petitioner's special condition was improper.

The District Court of Appeal then certified the following question to this Court:

- 3 -

IS SECTION 784.048, FLORIDA STATUTES (SUPP. 1992) FACIALLY UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS VAGUE AND OVERBROAD?

This Court issued its order postponing decision on jurisdiction and briefing schedule on August 11, 1994.

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner challenges the constitutionality of Section 784.048, Florida Statues (Supp. 1992). The facial constitutionality of the statute may be attacked without regard to whether the issue was raised below. <u>State v. Johnson</u>, 616 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1993).

The statute is both vague and overbroad. It is vague because the language of the statute does not place a person of ordinary intelligence on fair notice of what conduct is forbidden. It is overbroad because the effect of the statute is to proscribe speech or expressive conduct because of the disapproval of the ideas expressed.

The term "harasses" does not provide a definite warning of what conduct is required or prohibited. Within the term "harasses", the phrase "substantial emotional distress in such person" is not defined, and it does not require that the person so allegedly substantially emotionally distressed be a "reasonable person".

Again, within the definition of the term "harasses", the term "no legitimate purpose" is unconstitutionally vague. At least one court has found a similar phrase unconstitutionally vague. See People v. Norman, 703 P.2d 1261 (Col. 1985).

Another term in the statute which is unconstitutionally vague is "course of conduct". What is "a series of acts over a period of time, however short, evidencing a continuity of purpose"? What does the phrase "constitutionally protected activity is not included within the meaning of 'course of

- 5 -

conduct' mean"? Not only are these phrases vague in the constitutional sense, but the initial arbiter of these phrases is a police officer who may arrest an alleged stalker without a warrant.

Furthermore, verbal conduct -- both oral and written -- is punished by this statute, depending upon how it is initially interpreted by the arresting officer.

The statute is vague. It is overbroad because it encompasses constitutionally protected (First Amendment) activity. The statute should be overturned by this Court.

The Florida First District Court of Appeal relied upon the Florida Third District Court of Appeal's opinion in <u>Pallas v.</u> <u>State</u>, 636 So.2d 1358 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994). The opinion in <u>Pallas</u> did not address many of the concerns raised here. Specifically, neither the Florida First District Court of Appeal nor the Florida Third District Court of Appeal apparently considered the extensive legislative analysis that is found in this brief. Moreover, the court in <u>Pallas</u> failed to consider arguments relating to such unconstitutionally vague phrases as "constitutionally protected activity" and "course of conduct".

- 6 -

IV. ARGUMENT

ISSUE:

SECTION 784.048, FLORIDA STATUTES (SUPP. 1992) IS FACIALLY UNCONSTITUTIONAL BECAUSE IT IS VAGUE AND OVERBROAD.

The facial constitutionality of a statute may be attacked in an appellate court without regard to whether the issue was raised below. State v. Johnson, 616 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1993).

This statute is both vague and overbroad. The distinction between vagueness and overbreadth is that the former implicates the Due Process Clause and the latter involves the First Amendment. <u>Southeastern Fisheries Association, Inc. v.</u> <u>Department of Natural Resources</u>, 453 So.2d 1351, 1353 (Fla. 1984). Because the statute is alleged to be overbroad, which involves the First Amendment, Petitioner may attack the statute without demonstrating that his own conduct could be regulated by it. <u>Broadrick v. Oklahoma</u>, 413 U.S. 601, 93 S.Ct. 2908, 37 L.Ed.2d 830, 839-840 (1973).

The appropriate test for vagueness in Florida is whether the language of the statute places a person of ordinary intelligence on fair notice of what conduct is forbidden. <u>Papachristou v. City of Jacksonville</u>, 405 U.S. 156, 92 S.Ct. 839, 31 L.Ed.2d 110 (1972). The statutory language must "provide a definite warning of what conduct" is required or prohibited, "measured by common understanding and practice". <u>Warren v. State</u>, 572 So.2d 1376, 1377 (Fla. 1991) [quoting State v. Bussey, 463 So.2d 1141, 1144 (Fla. 1985)].

- 7 -

Section 784.048, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1992), is full of undefined or unconstitutionally poorly defined terms.¹

For instance, as defined by the statute, "harasses":

means to engage in a course of conduct directed at a specific person that causes substantial emotional distress in such person and serves no legitimate purpose.

The term "no legitimate purpose", included in the definition of "harasses", is not defined at all in the statute. The term "course of conduct":

> means a pattern of conduct composed of a series of acts over a period of time, however short, evidencing a continuity of purpose. Constitutionally protected activity is not included within the meaning of "course of conduct". Such constitutionally protected activity includes picketing or other organized protests.

The initial "arbiter" of the definitions of these terms is "[a]ny law enforcement officer [who] may arrest, without a warrant, any person he or she has probable cause to believe has violated the provisions of this section." Section 784.048(5), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1992). Other than excluding picketing or other organized protests, the term "constitutionally protected activity" is not defined in the statute, but along with the rest of these vague terms, is left up to the "discretion" of the warrantless arresting officer.

- 8 -

 $^{^{\}perp}A$ copy of Chapter 92-208, Laws of Florida, is attached as an appendix to this brief for the Court's convenience.

It seems likely that the definition for "harasses" was ultimately lifted from Title 18, United States Code, Section 1514, which (as a civil action) allows the United States government to obtain an injunction to prohibit the harassment of a Federal witness. There, the definition of the term "harassment" was to be used to allow the government to obtain an injunction and was not used to define a crime.

In the criminal context, as defined in Section 784.048(1), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1992), the term is so poorly defined as to be vague in the constitutional sense.

Take the term "...that causes substantial emotional distress in such person". The term does not require that the person harassed be a "reasonable person", which means that otherwise innocent conduct which causes substantial emotional distress in an unreasonable person triggers the criminal sanctions of the statute. This is especially so because the statute also fails to define "substantial emotional distress".

Other states have found it necessary in the definition of the term "harass" or "harassment" to require the person allegedly suffering "substantial emotional distress" to be a "reasonable" person.

California, for example, which apparently promulgated the first "stalking statute", in pertinent part, defines misdemeanor stalking as:

(a)ny person who willfully, maliciously, and repeatedly follows or harasses another person and who makes a credible threat with the intent to place that person in reasonable fear of death or great bodily

- 9 -

injury or to place that person in reasonable fear of the death or great bodily injury of his or her immediate family is guilty of the crime of stalking, punishable by imprisonment. [California penal code section 646.9(a) (1992 amendment) Emphasis added].

Alabama Code s.13a-6-90(a) provides that the crime of stalking is committed when:

A person who intentionally and repeatedly follows or harasses another person and who makes a credible threat, either expresses or implied, with the intent to place that person in <u>reasonable</u> fear of death or serious bodily harm is guilty of the crime of stalking. [Emphasis added].

The definitional section of that statute defines harasses

as follows:

[a person who] engages in an intentional course of conduct directed at a specified person which alarms or annoys that person, or interferes with the freedom of movement of that person, and which serves no legitimate purpose. The course of conduct must be such as would cause a <u>reasonable</u> person to suffer substantial emotional distress, and must actually cause substantial emotional distress. Constitutionally protected conduct is not included within the definition of this term. [Emphasis added].

Likewise, Delaware, Idaho, Kentucky, Illinois, and Louisiana require a "reasonable person" to suffer some sort of substantial emotional distress. Delaware Code Chapter 451, s.1312a, Idaho Statute 18-7905(a), as added by 1992, ch. 227, s.1, page 677; Kentucky revised Statute Section 508.130 (1992); Chapter 720, Illinois Statutes, act 5/12-7.3 (1992); Louisiana Statutes, Title 14, Chapter 1, s. 40.2(a). Similarly, Connecticut, Hawaii, Mississippi, Massachusetts, and New Jersey all require under comparable circumstances that a person be a "reasonable" one. Chapter 711, Hawaii revised statutes, Section 711, Act 292, Senate Bill number 3354 (effective upon its approval date of June 29, 1992); Mississippi Code Section 97-3-107 (1992); Massachusetts General Law Chapter 265 Section 43 (1992); New Jersey Chapter 209, Senate number 256,(2)(b), supplementing Title 2C of the New Jersey statutes.

It is clear that the (apparently deliberate) omission of the word "reasonable" as a modifier to the word "person" in the term "...that causes substantial emotional distress in such person" is a constitutionally fatal flaw. While the Legislature may be free to amend the statute and to correct this omission, the courts are not, because it is not their function to legislate, and the criminal statutes must be strictly construed. <u>See</u>, <u>Jeffries v. State</u>, 610 So.2d 440 (Fla. 1992). Moreover, even if this court were to read the word "reasonable" into the statute immediately prior to the word "person", it would still not cure the constitutional deficiencies of this statute because this is not the only phrase poorly defined in the statute, and because law enforcement officers are the initial arbiters of the statute.²

²How many justices on this court would like to spend a day in jail because law enforcment officers improperly interpreted this vague statute?

Another problematical and unconstitutionally vague term in the definition of the word "harasses" is the phrase "...and serves no legitimate purpose". As the term "no legitimate purpose" is not defined in the statute, a person of ordinary intelligence is not placed on fair notice of what conduct is forbidden.

What is a "legitimate purpose"? Does this mean the purpose carried out by an alleged violator of this statute has to violate another statute or ordinance? Is it only determined by the circular reasoning that the alleged violator's conduct violates all the other sections of this statute and is therefore (<u>ipso facto</u>) illegitimate?

Resort to Black's Law Dictionary, 6th Edition (West Publishing Company, 1990) defines the verb "legitimate" as:

To make lawful; to confer legitimacy; <u>e.g.</u>, to place a child born before marriage on the legal footing of those born in lawful wedlock. [Id. at 901].

That same dictionary defines "legitimate" as an adjective as:

That which is lawful, legal, recognized by law, or according to law; as legitimate children, legitimate authority, lawful power, legitimate sport or amusement. <u>People v. Commons</u>, 64 Cal.App.2D Supp. 925, 148 Pacific 2d 724, 731. Real, valid, or genuine. <u>United States v. Schenck</u>, C.C.A.N.Y., 126 F.2d 702, 705, 707. [Id. at 901].

These definitions are not helpful. Take, for instance, the following scenario. Spouse A suspects spouse B of cheating, and divorce proceedings have either been filed or are contemplated. Spouse A hires a private detective to surveil spouse B. Spouse B notices the surveillance, and believes the detective to be engaged in a course of conduct directed at him or her and one which causes substantial emotional distress in him or her, and as far as he or she is concerned, this course of conduct serves no legitimate purpose. Spouse B complains to law enforcement officials, who are left to guess as to whether this conduct serves a legitimate purpose. It certainly doesn't serve a legitimate purpose to spouse B, particularly if spouse B is innocent of the conduct spouse A believes that he or she is guilty of. At any rate, the initial arbiter of this vague phrase is the arresting police officer, who is afraid to do otherwise under this statute.³

The list of vague terms in this statute goes on. Although the term "course of conduct" is "defined" in the statute, its definition is not helpful. What is "a series of acts over a period of time, however short, evidencing a continuity of purpose."? If one person follows another out into the parking lot but stops each time the followed person stares at him or her, is this "a pattern of conduct composed of a series of acts over a period of time, <u>however short</u>, evidencing a continuity of purpose"? If the person allegedly "followed" is not a

³See People v. Norman, 703 P.2d 1261 (Co. 1985), where the term "without any legitimate purpose" was found to inject unconstitutional uncertainty into a statute criminally punishing harassment.

"reasonable" person this harmless activity may cause that person "substantial emotional distress" and that person may think that such conduct does not serve a "legitimate purpose" (whatever that is).⁴

Even more troubling is the latter part of the definition of "course of conduct" which states that: "constitutionally protected activity is not included within the meaning of "course of conduct"". Guess who initially decides that? Not a neutral and detached magistrate, but a law enforcement officer. But the phrase is far more vague and far more troubling than this.

A law enforcement officer is ill-equipped to decide the mixed question of law and fact as to what exactly constitutes constitutionally protected activity. It is not clear from the statute whether this helps to define the offense of "stalking"

⁴Consider this scenario: two women were roller-blading along the St. Marks Trail when they noticed a man "following them on a bike". Of course, the trail is linear, and people bicycle toward the St. Marks on the right side and return towards Tallahassee on the right side. The women sped up, and the man pedaled faster. The women slowed down, and the man slowed down. They stopped, and the man stopped. One of the women turned around and told the man to "leave them alone" but the man got off of his bike and walked towards them. One of the women threatened the man with pepper spray, but he continued to walk toward the younger of the two women, so she battered him with the pepper spray. Was this aggravated stalking even though it took place in a public place, where no force or violence was apparently offered to the women? Apparently the Leon County Sheriff's Department thought so, because according to the Tallahassee Democrat, August 31, 1994 edition, the man was arrested for aggravated stalking and "threats" and held in the Leon County Jail that night without bail.

and "aggravated stalking" or whether it is an affirmative defense. At any rate, this is not a term designed or calculated to place a person of ordinary intelligence on fair notice of what conduct is forbidden.

It is, however, a term that should trouble this court, just as what constitutes constitutionally protected activity has troubled lots of courts, both state and federal. It is unclear who makes the decision as to what is constitutionally protected activity, and what guidelines are used by the arbiter in order to determine constitutionally protected activity. Initially, it's a law enforcement officer; then is it a judge or is it the jury? If it's a jury, how is the jury to be instructed by the court on what constitutionally protected conduct is without the court (improperly) commenting on the evidence? Will the court read a constitutional text to the jury? Will the court allow the jury to take back legal opinions and determine the law? If so, it will be an "informed jury", which to date no court has allowed.

In the context used here, the phrase "constitutionally protected conduct" is vague, and serves no guidepost, providing a "definite warning of what conduct" is required or prohibited, "measured by common understanding and practice". Whether this phrase appears in the statute, the Legislature cannot outlaw constitutionally protected conduct no matter how much it wants to do so.

Just as an alleged violator of ordinary intelligence is not placed on fair notice of what conduct is forbidden, neither

- 15 -

is any law enforcement officer who may arrest (without a warrant) any person that he or she "has probable cause to believe has violated the provisions of this section". The provisions of this section are vague, murky, and susceptible to numerous interpretations.

This statute is also overbroad in the sense that it can encompass activities or conduct protected by the First Amendment. A court must ensure that a statute does not proscribe speech or expressive conduct because of disapproval of the ideas expressed. <u>R.A.V. v. City of St. Paul, Minnesota</u>, 505 U.S. ___, 112 S.Ct. ___ 120 L.Ed.2d 305 (1992).

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