FILED

SID J. WHITE SEP 20 1994'

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

By .

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 84,161

DAVID LEWIS GILBERT,

Petitioner,

-vs-

#### THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

# ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Taliahassee, Florida

MICHAEL J. NEIMAND Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0239437 Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 401 N.W. 2nd Avenue, Suite N921 Post Office Box 013241 Miami, Florida 33101 (305)/377-5441

PARKER D. THOMSON Special Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 081225

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Section 784.048 in its entirety, Florida's Stalking Statute (the "Statute"), and Section 784.048(4) thereof, specifically, are constitutional. This statute is constitutional, and totally complies with the First or Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution. It is neither overbroad nor vague.

The Statute proscribes stalking and harassing generally. Stalking and harassing are forms of conduct, regardless of whether the conduct may, in part, be evidenced through speech. As such, the proscribed conduct in the Statute is not susceptible to a First Amendment overbreadth challenge. <u>Operation Rescue v.</u> <u>Women's Health Center</u>, 626 So. 2d 664 (Fla. 1993), aff'd in part and rev'd in part, <u>sub nom; Madsen v. Women's Health Ctr.</u>, 512 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 114 S.Ct. 2516, 129 L.Ed.2d 593 (1994); <u>State v. Stalder</u>, 630 So. 2d 1072 (Fla. 1994); <u>Wisconsin v. Mitchell</u>, 508 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 113 S.Ct. 2194, 124 L.Ed.2d 436 (1993). Furthermore, the Statute, judged in relation to legitimate sweep, is not overbroad. <u>Pallas</u> <u>v. State</u>, 636 So. 2d 1358 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994).

Furthermore the Statute is not subject to a vagueness challenge. No portion of the Statute is "vague" to the degree required to violate the First or Fourteenth Amendments. Rather, the statutory provisions provide explicit guidelines for determining which conduct is proscribed.

-6-

In all, Petitioner's arguments have all been considered and disposed of by the decisions of the Fourth District in <u>Kahles</u> the Third District in <u>Pallas</u>. The Stalking Statute is facially constitutional.

#### ARGUMENT

# SECTION 784.048, FLA. STAT. (1992) IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONALLY OVERBROAD AND/OR VAGUE.

#### INTRODUCTION

This case addresses the strict issue of whether Section 784.048(4) of the Florida Statutes is constitutional as it applies to the actions of Petitioner. Petitioner has also made a broad facial challenge to Section 784.048, Fla. Stat. (1992) in its entirety. The Petitioner's challenge to the Statute is based on asserted overbreadth and vagueness.

Petitioner was charged with violating Section 784.048(4) of the Statute, aggravated stalking by harassment (repeated threats to kill) in violation of a domestic violence injunction, by visiting the victim's house in derogation of the injunction. Since there is no First Amendment protection for such threats in violation of an injunction, Petitioners overbreadth challenge must be rejected out of hand. His vagueness claim can only relate to that portion of the Statute that affects him. <u>Parker</u> <u>v. Levy</u>, 47 U.S. 733, 757, 94 S. Ct. 2547, 41 L.Ed.2d 439 (1974).

Nevertheless, the State will address additional aspects of the Statute beyond Section 784.048(4) should this Court, in the interest of judicial economy, wish to review the entire Statute in one case.

-8-

Sections (2), (3) and (4) of the Statute prohibit the same conduct, to wit: willfully, maliciously and repeatedly following or harassing another person. Section (2) is a misdemeanor of the first degree since that Section only prohibits the willful, malicious and repeated following or harassing of another.

Section (3) of the Statute elevates such conduct to the third degree felony of aggravated stalking when the willful, malicious and repeated following or harassing conduct is accompanied by a credible threat with the intent to place that person in reasonable fear of death or bodily injury. The credible threat" placing a person in "reasonable fear" parallels the "well founded fear in other persons" element in the crimes of assault, aggravated assault and robbery. <u>See</u> §§784.011, 784.021 and 812.13 Fla. Stat. (1991).

Section (4) likewise elevates willful, malicious and repeated following or harassing to the third degree felony of aggravated stalking when the following or harassing conduct is in knowing violation of a previous court order prohibiting such conduct.

# STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Statute's opponent must establish that the Statute is invalid beyond, and to the exclusion of, every reasonable doubt. <u>See Bunnel v. State</u>, 453 So. 2d 508 (Fla. 1984); <u>State v.</u>

-9-

<u>Kinner</u>,398 So. 2d 1360 (Fla. 1981). <u>See also New York State Club</u> <u>Assn., Inc. v. City of New York</u>, 487 U.S. 1, 108 S.Ct. 2225, 101 L.Ed.2d 1 (1988). (Burden of showing statute to be unconstitutional is on the one challenging it, <u>not</u> the one defending it).

In State v. Kahles, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1778 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), the Court reiterated the proper analytical framework, as established in Village of Hoffman Estates v. Flipside, Hoffman Estates, Inc., 455 U.S. 489, 494, 102 S.Ct. 1186, 71 L.Ed. 362 (1982) to be utilized when a criminal statute is alleged to be facially unconstitutional for overbreadth and vagueness. This proper analytic framework is for the court to first determine substantial amount of enactment reaches a whether the constitutionally protected conduct. If not, the overbreadth challenge must fail. Secondly, the court should examine the vagueness challenge and, if there is no constitutionally protected conduct, should uphold the challenge only if the enactment is impermissibly vague in all of its applications.<sup>2</sup> Kahles, supra.

<sup>2</sup> In a facial challenge to the overbreadth and vagueness of a law, a court's first task is to determine whether the enactment reaches a substantial amount of constitutionally protected If it does not, then the overbreadth challenge must conduct. The court should then examine the facial vagueness fail. assuming the enactment implicates no challenge and, constitutionally protected conduct, should uphold the challenge only if the enactment is impermissibly vague in all of its applications. A plaintiff who engages in some conduct that isclearly proscribed cannot complain of the vagueness of the law as applied to the conduct of others. A court should therefore

#### THE STATUTE IS NOT OVERBROAD

Overbreadth is a doctrine limited to statutes involving restrictions on First Amendment rights. If a statute does not contravene the First Amendment, then an overbreadth challenge fails. In a facial challenge to the overbreadth of a law, the Court's first task is to determine whether the enactment reaches a substantial amount of constitutionally protected speech. If it does not, then the overbreadth challenge must fail. <u>State v.</u> <u>Kahles, supra; Village of Hoffman Estates v. Flipside Hoffman</u> <u>Estates, supra</u>.

This case involves harassment constituting threats to kill which resulted in a domestic violence injunction and then violation of the injunction. This Court held that it is constitutionally permissible to regulate the "violent or harassing nature of Operation Rescue's expressive activity." Operation Rescue v. Women's Health Center, 626 So. 2d 664, 671 (Fla. 1993), aff'd in part and rev'd in part, sub nom Madsen v. Women's health ctr., 512 U.S. \_\_\_, 114 S.Ct. 2516, 129 L.Ed.2d 593 (1994). Additionally, the United States Supreme Court upheld this Court's holding which restricted picketing around the clinic against a First Amendment challenge when it "threatens" the psychological and physicalwell-being of the victim. Id. The

examine the complainant's conduct before analyzing other hypothetical applications of the law. <u>Kahles</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1778 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994) (footnotes omitted).

-11-

United States Supreme Court specifically held that, "[c]learly, threats to patients or their families, however communicated, are proscribable under the First Amendment." 129 L.Ed.2d at 612. (emphasis added). Threats, therefore, are not protected speech under the First Amendment. Likewise, a violation of the domestic violence injunction is not protected speech.

The Statute generally deals with stalking and harassing. Stalking, in the normal sense of the word, is pure conduct. Harassing may well include a speech component. This is irrelevant here where we are dealing with a threat of death. But harassing in general is conduct which may, in part, be articulated by speech. This speech survives any overbreadth challenge, nevertheless, as the Statute regulates only words used as a <u>method</u> to harass which, of itself, is conduct, even when mixed with speech.

Pallas v. State, 636 So. 2d 1358 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994), clearly articulated the correct rule. The Third District there upheld the constitutionality of the Statute against both an overbreadth and a vagueness challenge. The Third District rejected the overbreadth challenge to the Statute, even where the method by which the defendant harassed the victim was in a series of harassing telephone calls made by defendant. The Court held that the Statute survives an overbreadth challenge since the Statute does not proscribe conduct unless: 1) the conduct is willful,

-12-

malicious, and repeated; 2) there must be a course of conduct which would cause substantial emotional distress to a reasonable person in the position of the victim; and 3) the conduct must serve no legitimate purpose. <u>Id.</u> at 1363. For aggravated stalking, there must also be a credible threat made with the intent to place the victim in reasonable fear of death or bodily injury, or, as in this case, the violation of a domestic violence injunction.

That this conduct may be effected in part through speech does not invalidate the Statute on freedom of speech grounds where the use of words as the method with which to harass The controlling involves conduct mixed with speech. constitutional considerations differ substantially from those Pallas, 636 So. 2d 1363 (citing the applied to pure speech. decision of this Court in State v. Elders, 382 So. 2d 687, 690 (Fla. 1980)). The applicable test that applies when conduct and not merely speech is involved is that the overbreadth must not only be real, but substantial as well, judged in relation to the The Third District in Pallas statute's legitimate sweep. Id. concluded that the overbreadth challenge was not real and substantial judged in relation to the Statute's legitimate sweep. The State submits that the Pallas court correctly dealt with an overbreadth challenge to the Statute.

-13-

In a related line of cases, this Court upheld Section 785.085(1), Florida Statutes (1989), commonly referred to as Florida's Hate Crimes Statute. In so doing this Court followed the United States Supreme Court's holding as to the Wisconsin Hate Crimes Statute in Wisconsin v. Mitchell, 508 U.S. , 113 S.Ct. 2194, 124 L.Ed.2d 436 (1993). This Court held the Florida Hate Crimes Statute does not violate the First Amendment because the statute punishes bias-motivated criminal conduct rather than the expression of ideas. State v. Stalder, 630 So. 2d 1072, 1075 (Fla. 1994). This Court held that the Hate Crimes Statute punishes the conduct that evidences the prejudice, even when speech is a primary component of the conduct. The Stalder analysis, a fortiorari, applies to the Statute since hate crimes almost invariably involve a speech component, while often stalking through harassing has no such speech component.

In summary, the Statute is not overbroad. Stalking, whether by word or deed, done with the requisite specific intent to cause <u>harm or threat</u> to the victim is not protected by the First Amendment. The Stalking Statute regulates the conduct that causes threat or harm, not the content of a message that may accompany it. Lastly, the Statute by its terms ("course of conduct") excludes constitutionally protected activity. This type of exclusion has saved statutes from overbreadth challenges. <u>See, e.g., Arnett v. Kennedy</u>, 416 U.S. 134, 162, 94 S.Ct. 1633, 40 L.Ed.2d 15 (1974). In this case, the exclusion is unnecessary to protect against the overbreadth challenge.

-14-

#### THE STATUTE IS NOT VAGUE

Petitioner's vagueness claim can only relate to that portion of the Statute that affects him. Parker v. Levy, 47 U.S. at 757. But in any case, no portion of this Statute is "vague" in the sense of violating the First or Fourteenth Amendments. In order to succeed on a vagueness challenge, Petitioner must demonstrate that the law is impermissibly vague in all of its applications. Village of Hoffman Estates, supra. However, perfection of language is not the rule, rather whether it violates constitutional mandates. Kahles, supra; Pallas, supra; Stalder, supra.

Petitioner challenges a number of terms of the Statute as "vague". These terms will be addressed in turn.

#### Knowingly

"Knowingly," in criminal law, means actual consciousness, or actually having knowledge of the facts at issue. United States v. United States Gypsum Co., 438 U.S. 422, 444-45, 98 S.Ct. 2864, 57 L.Ed.2d 854 (1978), United States v. Warren, 612 F.2d 887 (5th Cir. 1980). See also, Sec. 409.920(2)(c) Fla. Stat. (1993) ("Knowingly" means done by a person who is aware of, or should be aware of the nature of his conduct and that his conduct is substantially certain to cause the intended result). Accordingly, "knowingly" as applied in this case means that the

-15-

defendant knew that the injunction had been issued and acted in contravention thereof.

# Willfully

The United States Supreme Court defined the term "willful" as "when [willful is] used in a criminal statute it generally means an act done with a bad purpose." <u>Screws v. United States</u>, 395 U.S. 91, 101, 65 S.Ct. 1031, 89 L.Ed.2d 1495 (1985) (upholding the vagueness challenge to 18 U.S.C. 52). The Court stated further that willfulness requires more "than the doing of an act proscribed by statute" and that "[a]n evil motive to accomplish that which the statute condemns becomes a constituent element of the crime." <u>Id.</u> As to vagueness the Court held:

> ... the requirement of a specific intent to do a prohibited act may avoid those consequences to the accused which may otherwise render a vague or indefinite statute invalid...But where the punishment imposed is only for an act knowingly done with the purpose of doing that which the statute prohibits, the accused cannot be said to suffer from lack of warning or knowledge that the act which he does is a violation of law. The requirement that the act must be willful or purposeful may not render certain, for all purposes, a statutory definition of the crime which is in some respects uncertain. But it does relieve the statute of the objection that it punishes without warning an offense of which the accused was unaware.

<u>Id.</u> at 101-102.

Florida has defined "willful" similarly to the United States "Willful" means intentionally, Supreme Court's definition. knowingly and purposely. Paterson v. State, 512 So. 2d 1109 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). The Statute contains the necessary scienter element, since in all sections it punishes only that perpetrator who willfully, maliciously and repeatedly follows or harasses another person. A person of ordinary intelligence can understand that he will have violated a statute if he followed or harassed another intentionally and with a bad purpose. Ιt is the perpetrator's mental state which is the measure of his criminality.

The Statute requires not only that the act be intentional and with a bad purpose (maliciously). It also has to be done repeatedly. Each of these terms adds limitations to the Statute, curing any vagueness as to what conduct is prohibited.

# Maliciously

"Maliciously" is a term well-defined in criminal law. It isdefined as "wrongfully, intentionally, without legal justification or excuse, and with the knowledge that injury or damage will or may be caused to another person or the property of another person." Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.) 130, 109. <u>See</u> <u>also, State v. Gaylord</u>, 356 So. 2d 313 (Fla 1978) ("maliciously" means ill will, hatred, spite, an evil intent). The term maliciously, in combination, with the term "willful", clearly

-17-

requires the perpetrator's conduct to be done intentionally, with an evil purpose and without legal justification. The terms "willfully" and "maliciously" are legal terms defined in familiar legal terms. <u>Bradley v. United States</u>, 410 U.S. 605, 93 S.Ct. 1151, 35 L.Ed.2d 528 (1973). As such, these terms delineate what conduct is proscribed.

### Repeatedly

The plain and ordinary meaning of "repeatedly" can be determined by referring to a dictionary. Green v. State, 604 So. 2d 471 (Fla. 1992). "Repeated" means: "1: renewed or recurring again and again: constant, frequent." Webster's Third New International Dictionary; 1924 (1986 Ed.). Applying this definition to the term "repeatedly" further clarifies the proscribed conduct in the Statute. The perpetrator must act intentionally with an evil purpose and such act must be more than an isolated incident.

#### Harasses

The Statute in Section (1)(a) defines "harasses" as follows:

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